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Introduction




This is the story of four of the most dangerous submarine commanders of the Second World War. Two of them were Japanese, one was German and the last was a member of the Soviet Navy. These men between them killed an almost uncountable number of innocent civilians during their war operations and only one was actually punished in any significant way for his crimes.


The book begins with Hajime Nakagawa, commander of the Japanese submarine I-177 in May 1943. Nakagawa was responsible for sinking the Australian hospital ship, Centaur at a cost of 268 lives, all of whom were either civilian crew members or members of the ship’s medical staff or an ambulance unit of the Australian Army. All were non-combatants protected by the Geneva Convention as was the ship itself which had clearly been marked as a hospital vessel and was travelling with the full protection of international law.


Why Nakagawa sank a protected hospital ship is a moot point which is discussed in detail in this book but he was never punished for this war crime. Later in the war, as commander of another Japanese submarine, the I-8, he was responsible for sinking freighters in the Indian Ocean and deliberately machinegunning survivors in the water. This book details how these events occurred, why they occurred and what we know of Nakagawa’s fate after the war.


In the second chapter of this book the author looks at the unique case of German submarine commander Heinz Eck – a handsome, well educated young man with a good family background and everything to live for. Yet despite his obvious attributes and intelligence, Eck was to become the only Nazi U-boat commander to be convicted of war crimes after the war.


Heinz Eck had been in command of the new and particularly powerful submarine U-852, when it was sent to the South Atlantic to prey upon Allied shipping in the region. This was Eck’s first command of a submarine. He had been warned beforehand of the immense dangers which faced him and, at this time in the war, 1944, these dangers were immense. All the submarines that had recently been sent into this region had been destroyed by the intense Allied air presence in the zone and Eck fully realised that he was facing almost impossible odds. In fact the odds were really against him. Every German submarine that had already been destroyed in this area had been commanded by an experienced, battle-hardened captain. Almost all of them had come through the highly dangerous years of the war in the North Atlantic where countless numbers of ships and submarines had been sunk. All these commanders had been decorated for their successful service. Yet even these seasoned professionals had failed when sent to operate in the South Atlantic with its incredible Allied air power coupled with a strong presence of warships, particularly aircraft carriers.


What hope could Captain Eck have in such a perilous place when this was his first war patrol and his first command?


Eck’s successes, if they could be called that, were modest. He sank only two ships including the SS Peleus, after which he callously killed almost all the survivors in the water with machineguns or through the use of hand-grenades. Why he did so formed part of one of the more tragic stories of the war and led to one of the first war crimes trials to take place following the cessation of hostilities in 1945.


In chapter three the author investigates the astonishing story of Japanese submarine commander Tatsunosuke Ariizumi and the particularly brutal events that followed the sinking of two ships, the SS Tjisalak on 26 March, 1944, and the SS Jean Nicolet on 2 July that same year. What makes this story unique is the sheer, singleminded brutality of events following the sinking. The survivors were not simply machine-gunned in the water, in fact they thought for a while that they were being rescued by the submarine that had sunk their ships, but as soon as they had been brought on board the enemy vessel, Ariizumi had launched a bestial wave of torture and murder on the survivors including at least one woman, which would echo in tragedy and horror for decades to come.


The one Allied submarine commander to take his place within the pages of this book is the Russian naval officer Captain Alexander Marinesko, whose story as the commander of the Soviet submarine S-13 is told in all its appalling detail in chapter four. Marinesko’s toll of death far exceeds any other submarine commander in history. He was responsible for sinking two former liners, the massive Wilhelm Gustloff and the Steuben, both of which he torpedoed in the Baltic Sea early in 1945, only months before the war ended. No one today really knows how many people were killed in these two tragic events. The Wilhelm Gustloff, upon leaving Gdynia, Poland, on 30 January, 1945, had so many people crammed on board that it had been impossible to count them all. These people were comprised mainly of refugees fleeing the coming Russian onslaught and also a large number of wounded German soldiers and nursing staff. On board the ship that day were also around five thousand children. When Marinesko slammed his torpedoes into the ship later that night he was fully aware that the vessel was crowded to capacity with civilians and wounded, yet he was perfectly willing to send the ship to the bottom of the Baltic at the cost, in some estimates, of around nine thousand lives, a large number of them being children who were either killed in the blast, drowned or frozen to death in the bitterly cold sea that night. Some of the bodies were later discovered frozen solid into ice-floes.


Not long afterwards Marinesko attacked the Steuben, also sending that ship to the bottom. Once again the death toll was huge. The cost in lives from that second ship has been calculated at around five thousand innocent souls. Between these two ships, Marinesko is believed to have killed around 14,000 men, women and children within just a few days.


These are true and tragic stories of the Second World War told in all their shocking detail. This book provides astonishing accounts of compelling and profoundly disastrous events that should never be lost to history.














‘No man is justified in doing evil on the ground of expediency.’


Theodore Roosevelt




Chapter One




Hajime Nakagawa


The Hospital Ship, Centaur



Hajime Nakagawa’s steps were slow and deliberate that day as he walked towards the grim prison that would become his home for the next six years. Sugamo Prison in the district of Ikebukuro, Tokyo, was only fifty years old – relatively modern by many prison standards – but it had attained a dark reputation as a place of harsh punishment including the recent executions of numerous war criminals. Nakagawa was deeply concerned that he might become one of those former members of the Japanese Imperial Navy who would soon be swinging lifeless from the prison’s gallows. He knew full well, from personal experience, that there were many very clever people working diligently behind the scenes to put him there – to stand him right on the gallows platform with an American noose around his neck.


The thought made him feel decidedly queasy.


The streets were busy that day, when were they not? he reflected moodily, and he wondered if he might never again have the pleasure of sitting at one of the outdoor stalls to enjoy a bowl of steamed rice with boiled carp and miso. No longer permitted to wear his uniform as an officer of Japan’s now defunct submarine fleet, Nakagawa was dressed plainly in an off-white shirt and trousers and would not have stood out in a crowd. Slightly more than five-feet four-inches in height and weighing 139 lbs, he seemed to melt into the people around him as if he were almost invisible.


As he came closer to the main prison gates he could see there were two American guards standing on either side. Behind them were the double gates over which was an enormous sign which read, in English: ‘Drive Carefully’.




Under different circumstances Nakagawa would have found the sign amusing but today there was no breath of humour left within him. In fact he rarely smiled and liked to keep to himself. He was known to be dour and at times irascible. He walked to the closest guard and opened the folded order he had received obliging him to report to the prison as he was now being officially regarded as a war criminal and that he was to stand trial for certain offences he was alleged to have perpetrated while the commander of two Japanese submarines during the war. The while-helmeted American M.P. nodded, made an entry on his clipboard, folded the paper and passed it back to Nakagawa before turning and opening one of the white-painted gates behind him. He told Nakagawa to report his arrival at the induction centre. Nakagawa, who could understand English reasonably well but found difficulty speaking the language, nodded and did as he was bid. The date was 11 June, 1948, the war in the Pacific had been over for close to three years but it had taken a team of war crimes investigators, working diligently through that entire period to be able to obtain just sufficient evidence to charge Nakagawa with a set of war crimes which they hoped would see him either end his life on the gallows or at least bring about a sentence of a lengthy term of imprisonment.


Nakagawa remained stoic as he was hustled through the prison’s induction process. For a man who had commanded a submarine’s crew and demanded respect, the stringent requirements for being inducted into the prison were humiliating and irksome. He was stripped, weighed, given a thorough medical check, fingerprinted, photographed, deloused and issued not only with a drab prison uniform but also a prison number. Henceforth he was to be prisoner 2594.


Having completed his induction Nakagawa was escorted to his cell along the well-lit corridors of the prison to the cell block. As the steel door clanged closed behind him he could hear the sounds of the M.P.s’ boots retreating on concrete. He looked at the sparse cell with dull eyes. His future was uncertain. After years of being dragged in for questioning and being reluctantly
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Hajime Nakagawa


The commander of the Japanese submarines I-177 and I-8. Nakagawa was responsible for sinking the Centaur and also machine-gunning the survivors of ships he later sank in the Indian Ocean.


– U.S. National Archives POW File 201.


released he had always hoped that it would never come to this. He turned slowly, sat on the narrow bunk and leaned back against the wall of the cell. His mind began to drift back in time and he could clearly see those events which had brought him here. The bodies floating in the water, bloodied, shredded by machine-gun fire; the ships going down in flames; the cries of the dying; the look of murderous determination on the faces of some of his crew as they had obeyed his orders to kill every seaman struggling in the water after their ships had been torpedoed from under them.


Secret memories. Not memories Nakagawa would ever share with anyone. If he refused to talk, kept quite forever, if no one talked, then perhaps there was hope that he might escape the noose. 


~~~~~~
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The A.H.S. Centaur.


When the ship was torpedoed by a Japanese submarine in May 1943, in contravention to the Geneva Convention and international law, 268 people, doctors, nurses, orderlies, ambulance personnel and ship’s crew, were killed.


– Australian War Memorial, Accession Number 302798.



As the Australian hospital ship Centaur glided slowly out of Darling Harbour, Sydney, on that pleasant autumn morning in May 1943 she looked like something that was inherently good and courageous in life. It was almost as if the Centaur were the epitome of everything that was caring and just in the world.


Dressed in the colours and insignia of mercy, the Centaur presented a beautiful sight. Many who saw her leaving harbour that day would never forget the moment. The Centaur had been converted from a rather dowdy merchant ship that had once transported passengers, general cargo and even live cattle, on occasion, from Australia to Singapore. Now, however, the Centaur was painted a brilliant white from bows to stern and the sides of the vessel and also its funnel were emblazoned with huge red crosses, clearly defining the Centaur as a hospital ship 



 and therefore fully protected from enemy attack under the Geneva Convention.


The Centaur was at the very beginning of what should have been its fourth successful voyage as a hospital ship. On board was a total complement of 332 people all of whom were non-combatants. These were comprised of crew members, permanent medical staff including doctors, nurses and orderlies, and men of the 2/12th Field Ambulance including an attached A.A.S.C. (Australian Army Service Corps) unit of ambulance drivers.


The Centaur was under the command of a highly experienced officer, Captain George Murray, then fifty-three years of age. Murray knew the Centaur like the back of his hand having been captain of the vessel for the previous seven years when the ship had been in regular mercantile service.
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Left: Captain George Murray who would go down with the Centaur.


– Author’s collection.


Right: Chief Officer Gordon Rippon who was the most senior officer to survive the sinking of the Centaur.


– Gordon Rippon collection.



The date was 12 May, 1943. As Captain Murray and his second officer, Gordon Rippon, stood on the bridge that morning they had 



 little reason to believe that they and the vessel they loved were heading into a tragedy, the reverberations of which would echo with astonishing sadness down through generations and change the lives of thousands of people forever.


The day was warm and sunny as Murray looked up at the impressive bridge while the Centaur slid centrally beneath its massive arch. Gulls were wheeling behind a lone trawler as it chugged ponderously into port. Murray, a rather introspective Scot, had been at sea for a major part of his life and the Centaur was his fourth command. He had been appointed its captain in 1936. Like many ship’s captains of his time he maintained a certain distance from his officers and crew but was greatly admired for his experience and capabilities as a seaman. Yet when the opportunity arose Murray was also not adverse to letting his hair down a little if the occasion demanded.


The ship that day was crowded with soldiers. Many of them had never before been to sea and this voyage promised to be a hugely enjoyable and unique adventure. They sat around the decks, clustered on the tops of gratings and lockers, climbed masts and generally made their presence felt on board in a way that at first seemed innocent enough but there were quiet concerns about their very visible presence aboard the ship.


For members of the ship’s crew particularly – men who had been seamen or engineers in time of peace and now also during a war, the dangers of the sea were well known and although the Centaur was protected by international law the fact that Japanese submarines were attacking shipping all along the east coast of Australia was disquieting enough. The sheer number of soldiers on board gave pause for thought. The ship was leaving port in broad daylight. It was a bright sunny day and there were hundreds of people around the harbour, on ferries or pleasure-boats watching it leave. Any one of these people could have been a Japanese spy and it would not be unreasonable to assume that if that were the case then it was possible that the Centaur might be regarded as 



 having broken international law by allowing troops to be carried on board. If the Japanese believed that a hospital ship was carrying combatant troops then its protected status ended and the Centaur would become a legitimate target for attack.


This was not, of course the case. The Centaur was carrying only non-combatant personnel. The soldiers on board were all members of the 2/12th Ambulance or its associated A.A.S.C. drivers. The drivers were allowed to carry a weapon for the protection of themselves and their charges but that was acceptable under international law and those rifles and a small amount of ammunition for them were also on board the Centaur. Carrying these weapons did not disqualify the Centaur from its protected status and nor did the presence of so many solders in uniform. But what worried many of its crew and some of its officers was that those non-combatant service personnel might be reported to the Japanese as fighting troops en route to the hotly disputed battle areas of New Guinea and that concept was particularly disturbing, especially when the ship would be lit up like a Christmas tree advertising its presence to every enemy submarine along the entire east coast of Australia.


Standing on deck that day was Maurice Cairnie, the dapper and handsome fourth engineer of the Centaur. Maurice, or ‘Maurie’ as he was known to family and friends, was a quiet, reflective and diligent man sporting a rather swashbuckling Errol Flynn-style moustache. Cutting a dashing figure in his officer’s uniform, the young ladies on shore probably adored him. Maurice was no newcomer to the sea. A Western Australian, he had been born and bred at Fremantle so ships and seafaring were like blood in his veins. He had been educated at the Fremantle Boys’ Senior High School and gone immediately into marine engineering. Working as an engineer for the Blue Funnel Line, Maurie had been employed on a rotating basis on several of the company’s ships: the Centaur, when it had been a simple merchantman, and its sister ships Charon and Gorgon. Maurie loved these ships and was well versed in their capabilities. However, even before
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The Centaur’s fourth engineer, Maurice ‘Maurie’ Cairnie.


– Maurice Cairnie collection.



the Centaur had left the wharf that day in May 1943 he not only had grave concerns about the safety of the ship but he also had a strong premonition that the vessel was going to be torpedoed.


Standing on the top boat-deck that morning Maurice Cairnie had been chatting to a friend, a sub-lieutenant in the Royal Australian Navy. The naval officer had been sure that the Centaur’s coming voyage would be successful. He grinned broadly.


‘Oh well, Maurie, at least you’re on a safe ship for a change.’




Maurie shook his head, his eyes dark. ‘I’m not so sure.’ He paused moodily. There was an uneasy feeling crawling into the pit of his stomach. He had been at sea all through the war and this was a feeling he knew well because the other ships he had served on had not been protected by international law. ‘I’ve got a premonition we’re going to get it this time,’ Maurie continued.


‘Come on Maurie, really? What makes you think that old mate?’


Maurice Cairnie looked up at the Centaur’s rigging. ‘Well, just have a look up there. Soldiers all over the rigging, look at them, playing accordions, having a great time. And the only distinguishing mark is a small patch on the shoulder.’ Maurie shook his head. ‘No one’s going to take any notice of that mate. The Centaur might look like a hospital ship but it also looks like it’s carrying troops and you know what that means.’


The sub-lieutenant could hardly disagree. He saw Maurie’s point. It could have been a problem but there was nothing anyone could do about it now. It was too late. There were troops and spectators everywhere. Grimly, he shook Maurice Cairnie’s hand and wished him good luck.


Still under the control of the harbour pilot, the Centaur now passed quickly through the anti-submarine boom and on to the Heads. Here Captain Murray once more took command of his ship and the pilot was transferred to shore.


As the Centaur sailed steadily away that day, turning onto a northerly heading that would take it along the coast of New South Wales and beyond, Murray could never have believed that his ship was doomed and that he and another 267 people on board that ship had just two more days to live.




~~~~~~




Captain Hajime Nakagawa sat quietly in the tiny partitioned living space euphemistically described as the captain’s quarters aboard the Imperial Japanese Navy’s submarine I-177. He had been 



 on watch for more hours than he cared to think about but that was normal for a war patrol. He was used to the long and exhausting hours but now he also needed to rest for a while, a few hours at least, before he could again take over the watch. He rolled into his narrow bunk and thought carefully about the message he had received three weeks earlier (20 March, 1943) from Rear Admiral Hisashi Mito, the commander of the 1st Submarine Squadron based at Truk Island. The contents of that dramatic message had not worried Nakagawa then, but now that he was actually on patrol, his first since having received that crucial message, a faint glimmer of concern was momentarily ignited somewhere deep within his consciousness. What if it all went wrong and somewhere down the line and sometime in the completely unforeseeable future he was called upon to give an explanation for such actions?


He held the decoded flimsy in his hands, reading those last few words again:


Do not stop at the sinking of enemy ships and cargoes. At the same time carry out the complete destruction of the crews of the enemy’s ships; if possible seize part of the crew and endeavour to secure information about the enemy.


Nakagawa folded the flimsy and placed it between a manual he was attempting to read. He shrugged. There was no need to worry; even thinking about it was a complete waste of time. Japan would win this war. He was sure of it. The very fact that the country’s dedicated servicemen were willing to take difficult actions such as this was proof enough that the people of Japan would be victorious. The strong always win over the weak. He rolled over and tried to sleep.


At that moment the submarine’s gunnery officer, Lieutenant Hajime Obori, pushed his head through the curtain of the captain’s cubicle, his eyes shining with barely suppressed excitement. Nakagawa rolled over, opening his eyes.


‘It’s a convoy, Captain, heading north.’




Nakagawa climbed from his bunk, reaching for his cap. ‘How o’ many?’


‘Five or six, Captain. A minor convoy. Possibly two escort vessels but they appear to be small. Corvettes perhaps.’


‘Bearing?’


‘182 Captain. Speed approximately seven knots.’


Nakagawa nodded, ‘Dive the boat. Come to battle-stations.’


‘Aye Aye Sir.’


Crew members were quietly hurrying to their posts as Nakagawa squeezed past in the narrow central communications passage. The red action lights were winking monotonously. Nakagawa raised the periscope and it hissed softly into position. He could see nothing. The night was as black as pitch and the convoy, blacked out, was virtually invisible. Now, however, it was possible to hear the faint thumping of approaching propellers; they sounded like banks of waves breaking against rocks in a discordant storm.


‘It will be difficult to get close enough to select individual targets, Captain,’ Obori whispered needlessly. ‘But perhaps... .’


Obori’s voice trailed away. Nakagawa had already come to the same conclusion. Attempting to manoeuvre into position to attack a single vessel would almost certainly be a complete waste of time, and dangerous, especially with escort corvettes or destroyers wasping about above, their asdic operators straining to hear any sign of enemy activity. The more sensible measure would be to fire a fan of torpedoes into the heart of the convoy and hope that at least a couple of them would strike a target.


Then they heard a ping on the hull, followed almost immediately by another and they knew the escorts had already found them. The sonar operator leaned urgently over his consul. ‘I hear a klaxon, Captain. They are sounding battle-stations.’


Obori was beginning to perspire freely now. He hated being depth-charged. ‘All six tubes are loaded Captain.’ He was holding a hand-piece, ready to pass orders to the torpedo room.




Nakagawa did not respond. He was busy issuing quiet orders swinging the bows of the submarine around to starboard, finding the best position so that his fan of underwater missiles would strike at the very heart of the convoy.


‘They are already scattering, Captain.’ The sonar operator was holding his headphones tightly to his ears, listening with every fibre of his body.


Nakagawa remained silent, counting time, eyes glued to the periscope. Yet his view was limited; he was deliberately keeping the periscope as low in the water as possible so that the wash would not be spotted from above. The escort ships evidently knew that I-177 was about, somewhere, but there was no need to wave a flag to show them exactly where. Nakagawa flipped up the periscope handles and the instrument slid softly back into its housing.


‘Fire one. Fire two. Fire three. Fire four.’


Obori immediately passed the order to the torpedo room. He was trying not to shout into the hand-piece but in the intensity of the moment he almost screamed the instruction. Moments later the entire boat shuddered as the four torpedoes left their tubes. It was as if the submarine itself had suddenly run into a wall of steel netting.


‘Four in the water and running sir,’ Obori looked up from his hand-piece.


‘Take us down,’ Nakagawa called urgently and the submarine dipped alarmingly as the planesman pushed the boat down hard and the electric motors hummed, pumping tons of water to flood the ballast tanks.


They could hear the buzzing of approaching propellers now – at least two of them – hounds on the scent. Every single crew member on the boat knew what was coming.


‘Level at 340,’ Nakagawa ordered. The plates of the submarine were glistening with condensation as the boat slowed, levelling evenly.




‘Depth-charges are in the water, Captain.’ The sonar operator looked a little frightened. This was his first time under attack.


Nakagawa said nothing. He was looking intently at his watch, counting the seconds. For a long agonising twenty seconds, while they waited for the depth-charges to reach them, they heard nothing, then there was the sound of a distant explosion. Just one. Nakagawa could hardly breath as he waited for more. There was nothing. Then it didn’t matter too much any more because the first of the depth-charges began to explode all around and for the next ninety minutes everyone on board the submarine believed that they were about to die.


~~~~~~




The ship that Hajime Nakagawa destroyed that night was the 8724 tons refrigerated cargo vessel Limerick which had been constructed at Glasgow in 1925. It was owned by the Union Steamship Company and although a tough little vessel which had seen and endured countless sea passages and, at times, indescribably severe weather, it suffered from some mechanical issues which on this occasion had forced the freighter to trail behind the other ships in the convoy.


The Limerick was actually part of Convoy GP 48 which was steaming north towards Brisbane under the protection of two corvettes, HMAS Colac and HMAS Ballarat. All but two of the Limerick’s crew would survive the sinking, being rescued by the Colac, and while I-177 was depth-charged after the attack on the Limerick it would escape unharmed.


The number of torpedoes fired at Convoy GP 48 would later become an essential piece of evidence in the war crimes investigation of the operations of I-177 during this particular patrol. The submarine was equipped with six forward tubes and when under investigation long after the war had ended Nakagawa was to claim that he had fired six torpedoes at Convoy GP 48 that night. 



 However, after years of intensive work investigators came to the conclusion that Nakagawa actually fired four torpedoes at the convoy, stating that he had claimed to have fired six in order to hide the fact that he had later used two of his torpedoes on the hospital ship Centaur. When his patrol had been completed and he had returned to his base at Truk Island, Nakagawa had been missing exactly six torpedoes from his standard store of armaments.


~~~~~~






After leaving Sydney the Centaur moved steadily north following a convoluted route to avoid minefields and other potential hazards or normal navigational problems. Captain Murray had been instructed to zigzag in order to prevent being targeted for a torpedo attack but Murray believed that zigzagging was a precaution that should not be utilised by hospital ships which were travelling under international protection as such a manoeuvre might raise enemy suspicions that the entire noncombatant persona of the ship could be nothing more than a ruse – and an illegal one at that. In any case, with so many military personnel on board the question was rather academic. Anyone seeing all those uniforms swarming over the ship would certainly form their own opinion over the Centaur’s non-combatant role.


For those on board the Centaur the passage meant different things to different people. For the captain and his crew this was just one more voyage in a lifetime of sea-journeying – plunging from one wave to the next in a never-ending journey through life – moving from one port to another and back again. Only the ports were different but after a while even these began to fuse into a kind of universal oneness.


Ordinarily it would have been all so routine but now there was also the war to contend with and while that normally brought additional hazards to a seaman’s life, the protected status of a 



 hospital ship meant that the crew and all those who sailed within the Centaur could relax and enjoy the voyage – the type of journey that many had never before experienced.


One man was particularly uneasy about the voyage: this was Lance Corporal Ron Jones, known as ‘Spud’ to his mates. Ron was an Englishman who had emigrated to Australia in 1927 and worked as a provisions manager at McIlraiths store in Burwood, New South Wales. When war came he had been eager to do his bit and joined the 2/12th early in 1940, just a few months after the outbreak of the conflict. He had already experienced action having been at Darwin during the Japanese bombings on the city in February 1942. A total of 236 people had been killed at that time.


Aboard the Centaur Jones was now very uneasy because, like Maurice Cairnie, he had a powerful premonition that the voyage was heading for disaster. He was so convinced of this that even as the ship had been heading out of Sydney harbour Spud was below decks checking how it might be possible to unscrew one of the ship’s portholes. Would the porthole be large enough for him to wiggle through if he needed to get off the ship in a hurry? Spud Jones was only a small man, and slim, built a bit like a jockey, but, as he later told a national Australian magazine, he realised quickly that he was never going to be able to squeeze through that porthole. Spud’s concerns were exacerbated by the fact that he was unable to swim. As a member of the 2/12th Field Ambulance he had never really expected to be in a situation that could have required him to swim for his life. He sat back on his bunk, thinking deeply about his dilemma. Having ruled out the possibility of the porthole as a possible means of escape he had at least saved himself from wasting valuable time in the event of a disaster. There was nothing more he could do at that stage but to wait until the lifeboat-drills commenced and then to pay particular attention to everything he was being told. Meanwhile, he hung his life-jacket close at hand – just in case.




Private Allan Pettiford of the 2/12th Field Ambulance was enjoying himself thoroughly. He later said, ‘We were looking forward to a very leisurely trip; we weren’t dreaming that we’d be hit by a torpedo. ... We thought we were really safe and most of the time we spent on deck. At times we could see the coast of New South Wales and it was really enjoyable.’


Perhaps the only events that cast any kind of shadow on what otherwise would have been a pleasant cruise towards the tropical climate of the north were the many boat-drills, the reality and urgency of which quickly dispelled the growing sense of invulnerability which was spreading over the ship’s passengers and medical personnel. ‘Spud’ Jones, of course, was delighted to attend them.


It was well known that Japanese submarines were particularly active in the waters off the east coast of Australia at this time and reports of the scattergun instances of ships suddenly being torpedoed and sunk were frequently being published within the pages of the press. The burning question was, of course, would the Japanese disregard international law and attack a hospital ship as other armed forces had done during both world conflicts (including Allied forces) or would they allow the Centaur to pass unmolested? There was no way of knowing. Those travelling aboard the Centaur on that fateful voyage had to place their trust in fate and hope for the best. All they could accurately state was that the odds were on their side.


The really good aspect of this, appreciated by all on board, was that the frequent lifeboat-drills at least helped to placate any fears that the Centaur might be caught unawares, and at the same time confirmed that even though there were more than three hundred and thirty people on board, should the unthinkable actually happen there would be quite sufficient lifeboats and life-rafts for everyone. Additionally, every person on the ship was issued with a lifejacket which came complete with a small red light and whistle.




On 13 May, the Centaur’s penultimate day of existence, two medical officers standing on the upper deck spotted what they thought might have been the conning tower of a submarine. The object was frequently being washed by waves but it was about four or five miles away from the Centaur and heading south, in the opposite direction. The ship’s second officer, Gordon Rippon, then standing on the bridge, also saw the strange object which soon disappeared from sight. All three men were convinced that the sighting had been that of a submarine but it was impossible to state of which nationality. Had it been Japanese then perhaps the Centaur’s clear markings of a hospital ship had already protected the vessel and all its passengers and crew, but it was equally possible that the conning tower – if indeed that was what it had been – was that of an American submarine. Speculation was rife. A distinct ‘edge’ had been jolted back into people’s consciousness but there was nothing anyone could do so those on board settled into a rather festive but still somewhat uneasy night.


As darkness descended the powerful image of the well-lit Centaur was an impressive sight. When almost every other vessel was painted in the drab grey of wartime anonymity and travelled most frequently in convoy, the Centaur majestically sailed alone, lit up like a brilliant white star. The ship’s hull was emblazoned with three large red crosses painted on both sides complete with a wide green band which went right around the entire hull of the vessel. The funnel of the ship also carried large red crosses on both sides and similar crosses had been painted on the deck of the ship so that they could clearly be seen from the air. All the decks and especially the red crosses were brilliantly lit so that at night they were not just prominent but visually dominant. If the ship were to be attacked there could be no excuse. No one could possibly mistake the Centaur for anything other than a non-combatant hospital ship.


Once the fright, or at least the reasonable concern of the sighting of the ‘conning tower’ had dimmed that night, many of those on board moved into a kind of party mode. All over the 



 ship people were enjoying themselves almost as if the voyage were some kind of peacetime cruise. A birthday party was being celebrated for the matron of the nursing staff, Miss Sarah Ann Jewell. Musicians struck up their instruments and the beer ration flowed happily. One crew member, the senior radio officer (and purser) Eric Summers, heard the news that he had just become a father for the first time, although sadly he and both of the other radio officers on board, Tom Morris and Bob Laird, would not survive the coming attack.


One of the ship’s crew, Ron Moate, later recorded that the day before the sinking of the Centaur everything appeared to be very busy, principally because it was Matron Jewell’s birthday. ‘She happened to be a very popular person aboard the ship and all hands were out to [help] with birthday cakes and the dinner and all the rest that was served for her,’ Ron recalled.


Staff Sergeant Dick Medcalf was enjoying the voyage as much as anyone on board, in fact he had been trying to get a posting to such a job for a long time. ‘I had been held in Australia doing medical work’, he subsequently recorded, ‘and trying to get overseas all that time. Every young chap did, and finally when I was offered this job on the hospital ship I jumped at it and was very pleased to get on board. I was very pleased to do the work I was doing because it was helpful.’


Dick Medcalf was very impressed with the Centaur. The vessel had been thoroughly converted to a hospital ship and although somewhat cramped for that role it had everything Dick needed to carry out his X-Ray work and medical technology.


On the Centaur’s last night Dick Medcalf enjoyed the party ambience that had developed almost spontaneously. He later recorded: ‘We had a very nice night. We had a concert on the foredeck and various people put in bits of skits and acts. There were chaps from the 2/12th Field Ambulance and they had a pretty good comedian and one of our nurses had a lovely voice and sang two or three songs. I don’t think it went on very long, probably a couple of hours.’
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Dick Medcalf seen here during the interview he gave in 1993 for the production of Centaur – Death of a Hospital Ship, a television documentary on the sinking of the Centaur.


– Tony & Lensie Matthews collection.


Inset: Staff Sergeant Dick Medcalf


– Dick Medcalf collection.



When the concert had finished Dick Medcalf and his good friend, Tommy Morris, the ship’s second radio officer, walked around the decks chatting about nothing in particular. However, their eyes were drawn to some flashes of what appeared to have been large naval guns on the horizon, far out to sea on the ship’s starboard side, but although they discussed what these flashes might have meant they did not know for certain, only believing that some kind of naval action was taking place far away. They walked back towards the stern of the Centaur and looked to port, towards the shore, where they could see the glow of what appeared to be a lighthouse reflecting on the clouds. Tommy Morris was then due to go on watch so he left Dick Medcalf alone on deck. Dick decided to turn in and went for’ard to the accommodation space that had been reserved for N.C.O.s of the ship’s medical staff. This was situated on the second deck down, just aft of the chain locker.
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Private Allan Pettiford of the 2/12th Field Ambulance.


– Allan and Bobbie Pettiford collection.



Meanwhile, standing on deck that evening Private Allan Pettiford sauntered over to another soldier, Private Percy Clegg, who was serving as one of the Centaur’s permanent medical staff employed as a theatre technician. Percy was one of those happy-go-lucky country lads who were the salt of the earth of rural Australia, good natured, always willing to lend a hand, with a dry sense of humour and a wry smile. Prior to embarking on the Centaur, Percy, who then lived with his wife, Marjorie and young son, Keith, at Warwick on the Darling Downs, had taken leave so that he could see his family before the voyage. His brother, Leslie, known as ‘Les’ lived at the family property, Sunnyside, which was situated just outside the small, former gold-mining town of Pratten. Actually there were old gold mines on the farm but they had long since petered out. Cars were scarce in those days, in fact many of them had been requisitioned for war use and fuel was being strictly rationed so Percy had ridden his bicycle all the way from Warwick to Pratten, a distance of about twenty miles, in order to say goodbye to his brother and ageing mother.
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Private Percy Clegg


– Tony & Lensie Matthews collection.



Allan Pettiford had been chatting to a lot of people that day, especially the ship’s medical staff, making new friends and acquaintances. Being from different units Percy Clegg and Allan Pettiford had never before met although they were both Queenslanders. When Allan introduced himself, Percy nodded and smiled. He had the face of a country lad, his eyes full of good humour. Allan asked where he lived.


‘Right over there,’ Percy indicated with the blade of his hand, pointing out over the darkening sea towards the north-west. ‘A place called Warwick.’


Allan knew Warwick well and remembered the main street with its imposing Catholic cathedral. ‘Married?’ Allan questioned. In answer Percy dug into the pocket of his tunic and pulled out his pay-book. In the centre of the book was a photograph of Percy with a particularly beautiful young woman.


‘The wife,’ Percy smiled proudly, ‘Marjorie. We have a boy now, Keith.’
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Percy Clegg seen here with his wife, Marjorie.


Percy was a member of the Centaur’s permanent medical staff, serving as a theatre technician. He did not survive.


– Keith Clegg collection.



Allan gave an appreciative whistle. ‘She’s a corker all right.’


Percy smiled quietly and tucked the photograph back into his paybook. Then he began talking about his family and Allan realised to his complete surprise that he and Percy shared a lot of friends and acquaintances. The two men hunkered down for a long chat about the all the people they knew at both Warwick and Roma. Allan was a Roma lad and knew the area and people well including the Clegg family. He had grown up in Roma and had been educated there. Allan also knew the Matthews family in Warwick and Percy had married into the family so the two men had much to talk about as their families and friends shared a love of sport and other country pastimes. From another pocket Percy took out a small booklet. It was a publication about the Taronga Park Zoo at Sydney which Percy had visited just before boarding the Centaur. ‘I got this for my boy, Keith,’ Percy said, flipping through the pages which were filled with photographs of the zoo’s animals. ‘He’s only seven but he loves animals so I thought he’d like it. I’m going to post it from Cairns.’
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Allan Pettiford


Photographed in 1993 at the time of the Centaur’s 50th anniversary memorial service.


– Tony & Lensie Matthews collection.


Allan later said goodnight to Percy and wandered away to look for his mate, Jack Lynagh, leaving Percy alone at the ship’s rail. Percy looked again towards the scattered lights on the shore, the northern extremity of New South Wales. He was thinking about his family then, his wife and young son, and wondering when he would see them again. It might be months, a year, who could know? He thought of his brother too, Les Clegg, working the beautiful farm at Pratten. The brothers were close and so much alike they could have been twins.


As the hours passed, one by one the party-goers and also those who had decided to have a quiet night alone made their way back to their bunks and cabins. Percy Clegg made his way aft to the ship’s medical staff accommodation with his mate Vince McCosker, who had been actively enjoying the sing-song that night. The mess was situated right above number four hold.


Percy had enjoyed chatting with Allan Pettiford; it had been great to talk about the people they both knew. Sadly it was impossible for Percy to know that he would never see his family again. 



 (The Taronga Park booklet never arrived, of course, although Percy had earlier posted a letter to his son to state that it would soon be on its way).


Meanwhile, Allan Pettiford and his best mate, Jack Lynagh, went for’ard to the ward where most of the 2/12th were being accommodated for the journey north. The ward was stuffy and crowded with so many servicemen in it. Allan took one of the bottom bunks while his mate, Jack Lynagh, took the top bunk. It was to be a fatal decision.


Finally the ruckus of revelry died down and the Centaur continued to move quietly north on a gentle sea, its watch-keepers and lookouts alone now in the vast stillness of the night.


As the long hours passed, the Centaur ploughed steadily on course. To a casual observer, from a distance, the ship would have looked like a star floating on the surface of the sea. Occasionally pods of dolphins or porpoises could be seen surfacing close to the ship. Creatures of great curiosity, they had been attracted to the Centaur’s unusually brilliant light display.


At 4 a.m. the watch was changed. The Centaur’s first officer, Henry ‘Harry’ Lamble, took over the bridge relieving Gordon Rippon, the second officer. Rippon went to the chartroom to write up the log and then down to the radio officer’s cabin where he gave the position chit to the chief radio officer, Eric Summers. The position he gave to Summers that night would be disputed for decades to come, but Gordon Rippon would be vindicated in 1996 when the wreck of the Centaur would be discovered just a few kilometres from its calculated position, a minor variation perfectly acceptable in nautical terms.


Tired and ready to turn in, Gordon Rippon now headed for his cabin never thinking for a moment that there would be little chance for him to sleep that night.


Corporal Albert Taylor was a dental technician attached to the 2/12th Field Ambulance. Basically Taylor was a passenger on board the ship. He did not need to be up and about at that hour of the 



 day but he had just visited the ‘heads’ (ship’s toilets) and decided that it would be nice to go up on deck to get some fresh air. He walked aft and now stood near the ship’s stern-rail gazing casually out at the darkened sea. It was such a pleasant night he did not wish to return to his narrow bunk. The lights of the ship, especially those shining downwards along the hull illuminating the Red Cross markings, were casting a flickering, almost hypnotic glow over the water. Taylor stood there for a few moments, enjoying the scene, watching a school of porpoises at play, when a flash of white on the surface of the sea momentarily caught his eye. He did not have a pair of binoculars, of course, and it was difficult to see in the darkness, especially as his eyes had become accustomed to the bright lights illuminating the ship. Yet as Taylor watched, leaning now slightly over the ship’s rail, he wondered if the white objects he could see – two of them – were not porpoises, but actually trails in the water, just visible in the moonlight.


And they appeared to be heading directly towards the Centaur!


~~~~~~




Today, no one really knows exactly what was happening aboard the Japanese submarine I-177 on that fateful morning. The reasons why there is such a dearth of knowledge about this one submarine at this specific time are varied and complex but at least they are clear.


The first and most significant of these reasons is that for the remainder of his life Hajime Nakagawa, the commander of I-177, refused to admit that he had been responsible for attacking the Centaur. His gunnery officer, Lieutenant Hajime Obori, subsequently backed Nakagawa’s claims that the I-177 never attacked any hospital ships at any time. The I-177 was later attacked by two American warships and sunk with all hands so no other members of the crew were available to make statements either confirming the attack or denying it. (Details of the sinking 



 of I-177 will be found later in this chapter). However, by the time I-177 was destroyed, both Nakagawa and Obori had been assigned to other duties. Additionally, when the I-177 was sunk any documentation which might have placed the submarine in the position of the attack on the Centaur was also destroyed. The submarine’s daily logs, radio flimsies or copies of diaries or official orders would probably have been sufficient evidence of guilt. We shall see, however, that both men were lying when they claimed not to be responsible for the sinking of the Centaur.


After years of research by war crimes investigators after the war we can now be certain that I-177 was the only Japanese submarine in that area at that particular time. As to the precise sequence of events that led to the attack it is only possible to offer an educated scenario of probabilities.


At 4 a.m. on the morning of 14 May, 1943, the Centaur was precisely inside the designated war patrol zone allocated to the I-177 by the officer in charge of the 22nd Submarine Flotilla, Commander Nishino, at their base at Truk Island. The exact movements of all three of the other Japanese submarines operating as part of this flotilla when on patrol at this time were later accounted for and verified by various documented means. Only the I-177’s movements were cloaked in a fog of disinformation, outright lies and secrecy.


It now appears that sometime before 4 a.m. that morning the submarine was almost certainly on the surface recharging its batteries. That would have been normal practice for submarines of that era, principally because the batteries usually needed recharging at least once every twenty-four hours depending upon how much time had been spent submerged. The safest time to do so was at night. If indeed this was the case then the radar operator at around this time would have been aware of a blip on his screen telling him that a ship was approaching. Indeed it hardly needed a radar to spot the arrival of the Centaur on the horizon as the ship was lit up more brightly than a fireworks display.




Standing in the conning tower just beneath the periscope housing Lieutenant Commander Nakagawa would have been both astonished and pleased to see the white lights of the Centaur coming into focus within the lenses of his binoculars. It would have been an unusual sight. Ships normally steamed in convoy, protected by escorts, and at night they were completely blacked out. Yet here was a target simply asking to be torpedoed. Its lights were a bright beacon calling for destruction. Nakagawa was only too willing to comply.


From that distance Nakagawa could not have known with certainty that he was dealing with a hospital ship, although he may have suspected that as being the case. He needed to get a lot closer. He turned to his helmsman, ordered full speed ahead and changed course to intercept.


As a precaution, more than anything else, Nakagawa would subsequently have reduced speed and submerged the submarine, ramming home the hatch clips in the conning tower as the vessel slipped silently beneath the waves. At periscope depth the I-177 would have crept even closer to its prey, Nakagawa watching the approaching ship with intense scrutiny. Finally the unidentified vessel would have come sharply into focus. What went through Nakagawa’s mind when he suddenly realised that his suspicions were now confirmed and that the mystery vessel was indeed a hospital ship protected by international law? We shall now never know.


The gunnery officer, Hajime Obori, later told war crimes investigators that Nakagawa never attacked the Centaur or any other hospital ships at any time. He stated that Nakagawa had expressed his belief that no such vessels were ever to be attacked. However, we can only take that sentiment as another exercise in an endeavour the men later made to save themselves from prosecution and the likelihood of ending their lives on the gallows of Sugamo Prison.




Nakagawa was not having a particularly successful war patrol. He had now been at sea for weeks but had managed to sink just one ship, the Limerick (almost by accident), one of the vessels that had formed the small Convoy GP 48. The I-177 would soon be required to return to the submarine’s base at Truk. Suddenly, attacking and sinking another ship to add to Nakagawa’s lacklustre tally of kills seemed a reasonable thing to do.


Over the next half hour or so Nakagawa manoeuvred the I-177 into attack position. It is entirely possible that he alone knew that the vessel they were about to attack was a protected hospital ship while the crew remained in ignorance, believing that the ship was just a tanker or general cargo carrier. It is likely that only Nakagawa actually saw the ship through his periscope.


In any case, the exact details leading to the attack are now somewhat academic. At 4.10 a.m. the attack plan was complete, timings had been estimated and the submarine was holding position. When Nakagawa’s words came, they sealed the fate of hundreds of people.


‘Fire tubes one and two,’ he ordered.




~~~~~~




At that precise moment Lieutenant Russell Ward, the orderly officer of ‘O’ Heavy Battery, also known as Rous Battery, situated on the eastern shore of Moreton Island, was in the process of carrying out his rounds of the battery’s position which was located approximately twenty kilometres south of the Cape Moreton Lighthouse. At that time ‘O’ Heavy Battery was still in its fledgling period. The unit was being housed in temporary accommodation – basically little more than a campsite with the actual battery position and accommodation for the men under construction. In fact the men were still awaiting the arrival of the battery’s 155mm coastal guns with their accompanying searchlights. The concrete foundations for the large weapons were then being laid.
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‘O’ Heavy Battery


Major Ken Fullford, (second row, 6th from right) Lieutenant Russell Ward (second row, 5th from right) and Sergeant Dermott Reilly (directly behind Ward).


– Ken Fullford collection.



That night Russell Ward was sharing the duty rounds with his orderly sergeant and friend, Dermott Reilly. The two men although of different ranks got along well together and even though it was just after four in the morning the weather was pleasant enough with the air fresh and invigorating. After checking that the sentries were all in place and alert, the two men stopped for a moment to have a few words with another soldier, Rudi Glass. As they stood in the sand chatting to each other the attention of all three men was suddenly drawn to a strong orange glow which temporarily lightened the sky just over the horizon. What happened next was really important to the history of the sinking of the Centaur because if events had transpired differently it could have meant that the ship’s survivors may have been rescued earlier and it is even possible that lives might have been saved. Having said that, it should also be pointed out that the three men at the battery who played a role in these events did everything in their power to ensure that what they had seen was reported promptly and properly and their actions were in no way to blame for what followed.
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Major Ken Fullford, commanding officer of ‘O’ Heavy Battery.


– Ken Fullford collection.



All three men were at first slightly confused by what they had seen. A round orange glow had lit the horizon and at first it was thought that the glow might have been the moon rising but the glow died down very quickly. Almost immediately came another orange glow which remained for only a second or two before it too died down leaving the horizon as black as before.


‘That was no moon-rise,’ Dermott Reilly said, slightly incredulously, his voice sounded worried.
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Sergeant Dermott Reilly


– Tony & Lensie Matthews collection.


‘You’re right there, Sergeant,’ Russell Ward responded. ‘Looked to me like a ship going up. Torpedo maybe.’


Reilly nodded agreement. There had been too many reports of ships being torpedoed by Japanese submarines. ‘We’d better report it.’


‘Let’s go and wake the major,’ Ward said grimly.


Lieutenant Ward and Sergeant Reilly hurried back to the camp which was situated about four or five hundred metres away. Once there they went straight to the sleeping quarters of Major Ken Fullford, the commanding officer of the battery. Fullford at that time was asleep in his narrow bunk but he came awake quickly when Lieutenant Ward arrived.
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Lieutenant Russell Ward (left) and Sergeant Dermott Reilly.


Both Ward and Reilly witnessed the flash on the horizon which indicated that a large explosion had occurred out at sea. This was later confirmed as having been the torpedoing of the Centaur. These photographs were taken fifty years later in 1993 when both men were being interviewed for a television documentary.


– Tony & Lensie Matthews collection.


‘There’s been a strange sighting at sea, Sir,’ Ward began. ‘Sergeant Reilly and I saw it while checking the piquets.’


‘What sort of sighting, Lieutenant?’ Fullford responded sleepily.


‘An orange glow, Sir. Two glows in fact, one after the other.’


Major Fullford yawned and climbed from the bunk, pulling on his trousers. ‘You don’t think it was just the moon rising?’


‘That’s what we thought at first, Major, but there were two glows and both subsided pretty quickly. It didn’t look like a moon-rise to us. I think we should report it to Combined Defence Headquarters. It may have been a submarine attack.’


Fullford nodded slowly. ‘Are you sure, Lieutenant?’


‘As sure as I can be, sir. And, you know, with all the attacks that have been happening lately, right up and down the coast ... .’
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